THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III
Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 2017-002598

RECEIVED
AUG 07 2018
SC Court of Appeals

CHARLES S. BLACKMON AND SOUTH CAROLINIANS FOR RESPONSIBLE
AGRICULTURAL PRACTICES, APPELLANTS,

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL,
AND DAVID COGGINS BROILERS, RESPONDENTS,

CHARLES S. BLACKMON AND SOUTH CAROLINIANS FOR RESPONSIBLE
AGRICULTURAL PRACTICES, APPELLANTS,

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL,
AND HEATH COGGINS BROILERS, RESPONDENTS,

CHARLES S. BLACKMON AND SOUTH CAROLINIANS FOR RESPONSIBLE

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the ALC err in deferring to an agency interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-9 and S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-43 that in effect ignores the mandate that large concentrated animal feeding operations must obtain an NPDES permit prior to or in conjunction with an agricultural animal permit, or else obtain an exemption via determination from DHEC that the permittee's operation has "no potential to discharge?"
- II. Did the ALC err in deferring to an agency interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-43 that allowed DHEC to avoid mandated aspects of permit evaluation, thus precluding meaningful review of agricultural animal permit applications?
- III. Did the ALC err in imposing a burden upon Appellants to prove actual discharges of pollutants into waters of the State by existing agricultural animal permittees when Appellants lack legal access to the properties of the existing permittees?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns DHEC's decision to approve three agricultural animal permits for industrial poultry growing operations utilizing a total of eighteen poultry barns housing over two million birds per year, all located on a 255-acre parcel notable for its onsite wetlands and streams and topography that drops down to the Little River. On November 30, 2016, the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control ("Department" or "DHEC") issued an agricultural animal permit ("Permit"), 19,889-AG, to Heath Coggins Broilers ("Permittee") for construction of six (6) poultry broiler barns to grow 4.5 flocks of 237,600 broilers per year, totaling 1,069,200 birds annually. (R. p. 1712). On December 14, 2016, the Department issued an

agricultural animal permit ("Permit"), 19,886-AG, to David Coggins Broilers ("Permittee") for construction of six (6) poultry broiler barns to grow 4.5 flocks of 162,000 broilers per year, totaling 729,000 birds annually. (R. p. 1702). On December 21, 2016, the Department issued an agricultural animal permit ("Permit"), 19,889-AG, to Jim Young Broilers ("Permittee") for construction of six (6) poultry broiler barns to grow 4.5 flocks of 237,600 broilers per year, totaling 1,069,200 birds annually. (R. p. 1707). All three Permits authorize large concentrated feeding operations on property located between Lisbon Road and the Little River in the Mountville area of Laurens County ("Property").

Appellant South Carolinians for Responsible Agricultural Practices ("SCRAP") is an unincorporated association made up of members of the Mountville community in Laurens County. (R. p. 523, line 17 – p. 525, line 9). Mr. Charles Blackmon is a member and President of SCRAP. (R. p. 527, lines 15-17). Mr. Blackmon owns or jointly owns seven parcels surrounding the Property. (R. p. 1214; R. p. 400, line 23 – p. 401, line 1). Ms. Mary Basel and Ms. Margaret Sparrow are members of SCRAP. (R. p. 546, lines 21-22; R. p. 567, lines 21-23). Through a corporate entity, Dunlap Homeplace, LLC, Ms. Basel and Ms. Sparrow jointly own four parcels of land surrounding the Property. (R. p. 1214; R. p. 548, lines 12-14). Mr. Ross Stewart is a member of SCRAP. (R. p. 601, lines 8-9). Mr. Ross Stewart owns two parcels of land on the eastern side of the Property. (R. p. 1214).

Mr. Blackmon, Ms. Basel, Ms. Sparrow, Mr. Stewart and others in the Mountville community grew concerned about the adverse impacts of these new Permits upon their community and their property. They formed SCRAP for the purpose of challenging the Permits. (R. p. 523, line 17 – R. p. 525, line 9). On December 15, 2016, Mr. Blackmon and SCRAP

("Petitioners") filed a Request for Board Review ("RFR") seeking DHEC Board review of the Department's decision to issue the Permit to Heath Coggins Broilers. (R. p. 36-39). On December 28, 2016, Petitioners filed a RFR seeking DHEC Board review of the Department's decision to issue the Permit to David Coggins Broilers. (R. p. 40-43). On January 4, 2017, Petitioners filed a RFR seeking DHEC Board review of the Department's decision to issue the Permit to Jim Young Broilers. (R. p. 44-47). The RFRs were signed by 31 individuals, with Charles Blackmon listed first as the contact person for the group. Other signatories included Mary Basel, Margaret Sparrow, and Ross Stewart. (R. p. 43). All of the signatories were members of South Carolinians for Responsible Agricultural Practices ("SCRAP"), and own property within two miles of these proposed facilities. (R. p. 525, line 21 – R. p. 526, line 14; R. p. 526, lines 17-21).

On January 18, 2017, the Department notified the Petitioners that the DHEC Board declined to conduct a final review conference concerning the permits issued to David Coggins Broilers and Heath Coggins Broilers. (R. p. 72-73; R. p. 74-75). On January 23, 2017, the Department notified the Petitioners that the DHEC Board declined to conduct a final review conference concerning the permit issued to Jim Young Broilers. (R. p. 76-77). On February 17, 2017, the Petitioners timely filed petitions for a contested case with the Administrative Law Court Petitions for all three permits. (R. p. 79-113). On March 29, 2017, the Administrative Law Court ("ALC" or "Court") granted the Parties' joint motion to consolidate the cases for hearing purposes. (R. p. 1-3). On August 4, 2017, Permittees filed a motion for partial summary judgment as to whether they must obtain a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit to operate their proposed poultry growing facilities. (R. p. 221-245). On August 10, 2017, Petitioners filed their memorandum in opposition to Permittees' motion for partial summary

judgment. (R. p. 246-293). Arguments concerning the motion, as well as a hearing on the merits, were held before the Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III on August 15-17, 2017. (R. p. 340 – p. 345; R. p. 372, line 1 – p. 390, line 22). Proposed orders were submitted to the ALC on October 13, 2017. On November 30, 2017, the ALC entered an order granting Permittees' motion for partial summary judgment, rejecting Petitioners' arguments on the merits, and approving the permits with certain modifications. (R. p. 4-35). On December 27, 2017, Petitioners timely filed a Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the Mountville area of Laurens County, there are twelve existing poultry facilities totaling approximately 50 poultry barns, all located along or near tributaries of the Little River. (R. p. 1212; R. p. 452, line 2 – p. 454, line 25). Adding to this concentration of poultry facilities in the Mountville Community, Jim Young Broilers, David Coggins Broilers and Heath Coggins Broilers individually sought permits to each construct an animal agricultural facility comprised of six poultry barns to grow broiler chickens, for a total of eighteen new poultry barns, on an approximately 255-acre tract on Lisbon Road in the Mountville area ("Property"). (R. p. 1496 – 1500; R. p. 1522; R. p. 1220 – 1225; R. p. 1245; R. p. 1213; R. p. 1337 – p. 1340; R. p. 1359; R. p. 769, lines 10-14).

David Coggins Broilers' operation would confine 162,000 birds for 45 days during any twelve-month period. (R. p. 1218). David Coggins' proposed barns are 45 feet wide and 600 feet long, spaced 60 feet apart from one another. (R. p. 1218). According to David Coggins' Headquarters Map within his Comprehensive Nutrient Management Plan ("CNMP"), there is a stream running across the back portion of the Property. (R. p. 1245). A delineated wetland is

located between this stream and the proposed barns. (R. p. 1245). Another stream flows into the wetlands. (R. p. 1245). Behind David Coggins' barns, the Property near the Little River slopes steeply down to the River. (R. p. 1245; R. p. 1256; R. p. 1214; R. p. 620, lines 3-21). Downslope ditches or swales are located 164 feet from the proposed facility. (R. p. 1222). The Little River's 100-year floodplain is near David Coggins' barns. (R. p. 1258).

Heath Coggins Broilers' operation would confine 237,000 birds during a 45-day period in any twelve-month period. (R. p. 1335). Heath Coggins' proposed barns are 66 feet wide and 600 feet long, spaced 60 feet apart from one another. (R. p. 1335). According to Heath Coggins' Headquarters Map within his CNMP, there are two streams running across the back portion of the Property. (R. p. 1359). Another surface water stream is located quite close to the western side of the barns. (R. p. 1359). A delineated wetland sits on the planned property line between Heath Coggins's facility and David Coggins' facility. (R. p. 1359). Behind Heath Coggins barns, the Property near the Little River slopes steeply down to the River. (R. p. 1362; R. p. 622, lines 8-12). Downslope ditches or swales are located 135 feet from the proposed facility. (R. p. 1338). The Little River's 100-year floodplain is near Heath Coggins' proposed barns. (R. p. 1363).

Jim Young Broilers' operation would confine 237,600 birds during a 45-day period in any twelve-month period. (R. p. 1495). Jim Young's proposed barns are 65 feet wide and 600 feet long, spaced 60 feet apart from one another. (R. p. 1517). Behind Jim Young's barns, the Property drops in elevation by eighty (80) feet down to the Little River and its floodplain. (R. p. 1517; R. p. 605, lines 2-19). Maps included in Jim Young's CNMP show that an ephemeral stream – an old channel of the Little River - runs along the rear property line parallel to the Little River.

(R. p. 1517; R. p. 1525; R. p. 624, lines 8-14). Delineated wetlands are located downslope near the barns as well as a smaller stream that feeds into the wetlands. (R. p. 1525). Another ephemeral stream feeds into the wetlands. (R. p. 1525). Behind Jim Young's barns, the Property near the Little River slopes steeply down to the River. (R. p. 1517; R. p. 605, line 2 - p. 609, line 2). Downslope ditches or swales are located 113 feet from the proposed facility. (R. p. 1497). The Little River's 100-year floodplain is near Heath Coggins' proposed barns. (R. p. 1522).

The Department's review of the above-stated permit applications is contained in written permit checklists. (R. p. 1666 – 1699). The purpose of these checklists is to provide for a comprehensive review of the proposed sites and facilities. (R. p. 1157, lines 3 – 13).

The Little River watershed is impaired due to excessive levels of fecal bacteria in the Little River and its tributaries. (R. p. 863, line 7 – p. 867, line 16). In 2004, DHEC issued a Total Maximum Daily Load for the Little River and its tributaries for the purpose of assessing the watershed and examining how to bring the watershed into compliance with the Clean Water Act and South Carolina water quality regulations. (R. p. 863, line 7 – p. 867, line 16; R. p. 868, lines 2-9). The TMDL identifies poultry facilities as a possible contributor to the impairment of the Little River watershed. (R. p. 1200, line 9 – p. 1202, line 6). The TMDL is still in effect. (R. p. 1199, line 24 – p. 1200, line 8).

Altogether, the Permittees' proposed operations will generate an estimated 3,886 tons of manure every year. (R. p. 1533; p. 1429; p. 1296). The Permittees' applications do not contain plans for manure storage or treatment. (R. p. 1066, line 1 - p. 1067, line 20). At some point in the future, the Permittees plan to submit applications to construct stacking sheds to store manure. (R. p. 1066, line 1 - p. 1067, line 20; R. p. 1218; R. p. 1335; R. p. 1495). Until stacking

sheds are constructed, Permittees may temporarily store manure outdoors for up to three days. (R. p. 1218; R. p. 1335). All three Permittees propose to use a manure broker to haul some or all of this manure offsite to apply to fields owned by third parties. (R. p. 1135, line 5 – p. 1137, line 17). DHEC lacks oversight as to where this manure will be land applied. (R. p. 1167, line 3 – p. 1168, line 15). The manure could be land applied within the Little River watershed or elsewhere. (R. p. 1135, line 5 – p. 1137, line 17).

REGULATORY OVERVIEW

S.C. Code Regs. 61-43 Part 200 governs the permitting of poultry growing facilities in South Carolina. The relevant stated purposes of Part 200 are:

1. To establish standards for the growing or confining of animals, processing of animal manure and other animal by-products, and to protect the environment, and the health and welfare of the citizens of The State from pollutants generated by this process.
- ...
5. To establish criteria for animal facilities ... location as they relate to protection of the environment and public health. ... S.C. Code Regs. 61-43.200.10(A).

Under the agricultural animal permitting regulation, an applicant must submit an Animal Facility Management Plan that contains the facility's National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Permit, if applicable. S.C. Code Regs. 61-43.200.50(B)(2)(a). The Animal Facility Management Plan must also include, among other things, facility location maps showing topography; adjacent surface water bodies; the 100-year floodplain; soil types; an odor abatement plan; and plans for manure storage structures. S.C. Code Regs. 61-43.200.50(B)(2)(i); 200.50(B)(4) and (8).

As part of its decision-making process, the Department must "act on all permits to prevent, so far as reasonably possible considering relevant standards under state and federal

laws, an increase in pollution of the waters and air of the State from any new or enlarged sources.” S.C. Code Regs. 61-43.200.70(E). Further, S.C. Code Regs. 61-43.200.80 sets forth minimum setback distances. At a minimum, a facility must be located 100 feet away from waters of the State, including intermittent and ephemeral streams.¹ *Id.* at (A)(2). A facility must be located at least 50 feet from a downslope ditch or swale.² *Id.* at (A)(3). A facility cannot be located in a 100-year floodplain. *Id.* at (A)(4). If a facility’s normal production animal live weight is greater than 500,000 pounds, the facility must be at least 400 feet from the lot line of property owned by another person. *Id.* at (A)(6). In addition, the Department, on a case-by-case basis, “may impose additional or more stringent requirements for the management, handling, treatment, storage, or utilization of animal manure and other animal by-products.” S.C. Code Regs. 61-43.200.140(B). Certain situations trigger mandatory evaluation by DHEC for additional or more stringent requirements, such as facilities proposed to be located upstream of an impaired waterbody. *Id.* at 140(C).

S.C. Code Regs. 61-43.200.70(F) makes clear that minimum setback distances specified within S.C. Code Regs. 61-43 are minimum distances that DHEC may increase on a case by case basis. In determining whether additional setbacks are necessary, the Department is mandated to evaluate the proposed site applying a nonexclusive list of factors:

1. Proximity to 100-year floodplain;
2. Geography and soil types on the site;
3. Location in a watershed;
4. Classification or impairment of adjacent waters;
5. Proximity to a State Designated Focus Area; Outstanding Resource Water; Heritage Corridor; Historic Preservation District; State Approved Source Water

¹ An exception does exist if a permanent vegetative water quality buffer is established and maintained.

² *Id.*

- Protection Area; state or national park or forest; state or federal research area; and privately-owned wildlife refuge, park or trust property;
 - 6. Proximity to other known point source discharges and potential nonpoint sources;
 - 7. Slope of the land;
 - 8. Animal manure application method and aerosols;
 - 9. Runoff prevention;
 - 10. Adjacent groundwater usage;
 - 11. Down-wind receptors; and
 - 12. Aquifer vulnerability.
- S.C. Code Regs. 61-43.200.70(F).

If a facility is classified as a concentrated animal feeding operation under S.C. Code Regs. 61-9, an animal agricultural permit shall have a term of no more than five years. S.C. Code Regs. 61-43.200.70(I).

In addition to the requirements set forth within Part 200, S.C. Code Regs. 61-43.200.40 explicitly states that the State's permitting requirements for concentrated animal feeding operations ("CAFO") as defined by and contained in Regulation 61-9 are "referenced throughout" Part 200 and "may apply to facilities covered under this regulation." S.C. Code Regs. 61-43.200.40(D). S.C. Code Regs. 61-9 pertains to National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System ("NPDES") permits issued under the authority of the federal Clean Water Act and the South Carolina Pollution Control Act. In 2003, the State of South Carolina adopted the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's ("EPA") NPDES regulations applicable to CAFOs, promulgated in 2003. Vol. 27-12 S.C. REG. 50 (Dec. 26, 2003).

In its explanation of need for the CAFO NPDES rule, the EPA stated that "the agricultural sector including crop production, pasture and range grazing, concentrated and confined animal feeding operations, and aquaculture is the leading contributor of pollutants to identified water quality impairments in the Nation's rivers and streams." 68 FED. REG. 7176, 7181 (Feb. 12, 2003).

The leading pollutants impairing surface water quality in the United States ... include nutrients, pathogens, sediment/siltation, and oxygen depleting substances. *Id.* These pollutants can originate from a variety of sources, including the animal production industry. *Id.* Addressing poultry farms, the EPA stated that “dry poultry operations continue to contaminate surface water and ground water because of rainfall coming in contact with dry manure and litter that is stacked in exposed areas; accidental spills such as from egg-wash facilities and drinking water lines; improper handling of large numbers of mortalities; and improper land application of litter.” 68 FED. REG. 7176, 7192 (Feb. 12, 2003).

The NPDES program regulates “discharges”³ or “discharges of a pollutant”⁴ from a “point source” into waters of the State. S.C. Code Regs. 61-9.122.1(g). “Point source” means any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, including, but not limited to, any pipe, ditch, channel, tunnel, conduit, well, discrete fissure, container, rolling stock, concentrated animal feeding operation or vessel, or other floating craft, from which pollutants are or may be discharged.” (emphasis added). Thus, a CAFO is by definition deemed to be a “point source” from which agricultural waste, biological materials, and sediment are or may be discharged. As such, animal agricultural facilities that meet the definition of a CAFO are required to obtain a NPDES permit for discharges or potential discharges. S.C. Code Regs. 61-9.122.1(b)(4)(i); S.C. Code Regs. 61-9.122.23(a). “Once an operation is defined as a CAFO, the NPDES requirements for CAFO apply with respect to all animals in confinement at the operation and all manure, litter, and

³ The word “discharge” is defined as “any discharge or discharge of any sewage, industrial wastes or other wastes into any of the waters of the State, whether treated or not.” S.C. Code Regs. 61-9.122.2(b).

⁴ The phrase “discharge of a pollutant” is defined in relevant part as “[a]ny addition of any pollutant or combination of pollutants to waters of the State from any point source.” S.C. Code Regs. 61-9.122.2(b). “Pollutant” means in relevant part “... solid waste, ... sewage, ... chemical wastes, biological materials, ... sand, ... and agricultural waste discharged into water.” *Id.*

process wastewater generated by those animals or the production of those animals, regardless of the type of animal.” S.C. Code Regs. 61-9.122.23(a).

To be deemed a CAFO as defined within S.C. Code Regs. 61-9.122.23, the definition of an “animal feeding operation” (“AFO”) must first be met, followed by tiered categories of AFOs triggered by the size of the operation. S.C. Code Regs. 61-9.122.23(b)(1) and (2). An “animal feeding operation” is “a lot or facility (other than an aquatic animal production facility) ... where the following conditions are met:

- (A) Animals (other than aquatic animals) have been, are, or will be stabled or confined and fed or maintained for a total of 45 days or more in any 12-month period and
- (B) Crops, vegetation, forage growth, or post-harvest residues are not sustained in the normal growing season over any portion of the lot or facility. S.C. Code Regs. 61-9.122.23(b)(1).

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