STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Ralph King Anderson, III, Administrative Law Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-002598

---

**RECEIVED**  
AUG 08 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Charles S. Blackmon v and South Carolinians for Responsible  
Practices.....Appellants,

vs.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control and David Coggins Broilers,  
.....Respondents.

Charles S. Blackmon v and South Carolinians for Responsible  
Practices.....Appellants,

vs.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control and Heath Coggins Broilers,  
.....Respondents.

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

## ARGUMENTS

### I. APPELLANTS' CLAIMS ARE UNPRESERVED FOR REVIEW BY THIS COURT; THEREFORE, THEY CANNOT BE CONSIDERED.

As a threshold matter, Appellants failed to preserve the claims presented in their Brief. It well established that the losing party below must raise and obtain a ruling from the trial court on all issues that the party intends to raise on appeal. I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). "Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." Id. The requirement forces the appellant to thoroughly prepare its case and not to purposely or accidentally withhold an argument from the lower court as a trump card to obtain a reversal on appeal in order to relitigate the matter anew. Id.

Further, even "[i]f the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review." Id.; see also Home Med. Sys. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 382 S.C. 556, 562-563, 677 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2009) (holding "Rule 59(e) motions serve a vital purpose for proper issue preservation. As in other appellate matters, we require issue preservation in administrative appeals.").

Here, Appellants raise issues in their brief that they did not raise or receive a ruling upon at the ALC. Specifically, Appellants raise the following issues:

1. "DHEC's position that the issuance of a 'no-discharge' agricultural animal permit constitutes DHEC's determination that the [Projects] have no potential

to discharge,” renders the term “‘no potential to discharge’ as meaningless,” which is “contrary to the well-established rule of statutory construction ...” App. Br. at 19-22 (citations omitted).

2. DHEC’s interpretation of its regulations that no NPDES permit is required because the Permits are “no discharge” permits “is merely a post hoc rationalization.” App. Br. at 23-24.
3. “Appellants need not prove that Respondents will discharge or intend to discharge pollutants” into waters of the State. App. Br. at 24-25.
4. The performance standard for an NPDES permit is not the same as an animal facility permit and “federal best management practices promulgated as effluent standards for CAFOs are intended to be the absolute minimum that States must apply and enforce ....” App. Br. at 25-26.
5. The issue of whether the Projects require an NPDES permit is ripe for review because “[t]here is nothing contingent, hypothetical or abstract about the duty of [Respondents] to apply for an NPDES or otherwise seek a determination from DHEC that their proposed operations have ‘no potential to discharge.’” App. Br. at 26-27.
6. DHEC failed to meaningfully evaluate whether additional or more stringent requirements were required based on the Projects’ proximity to impaired waterbodies. App. Br. at 29-32.
7. DHEC’s determination that no additional setbacks are required because the facility is a “no discharge” facility is contrary to the rules of statutory construction. App. Br. at 32-35.

8. Requiring Appellants to bear the burden “of proving existing agricultural facilities actually discharge pollutants into waters of the State” creates an impossible and unfair burden on Appellants” because they “lack legal access to existing poultry facilities.” App. Br. at 35.
9. If Appellants do in fact bear such a burden of proof, any such burden would not involve proof of actual discharges, but whether discharges may occur from animal facilities. App. Br. at 35-37.

A review of the Record establishes that Appellants either did not raise these issues before the ALC or, if raised, the ALC did not specifically address the issues in its Final Order and Decision. Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court instead of first filing a Motion to Alter or Amend as provided for in Rule 59(e), SCRPC, and SCALC Rule 29(D) and then filing a Notice of Appeal. The issues presented by Appellants were not preserved because the ALC was deprived of a final opportunity to correct any of the errors now alleged by Appellants or to provide specific findings and/or conclusion of law sufficient to preserve these issues for appellate review. See Shealy v. Aiken City, 341 S.C. 448, 460, 535 S.E.2d 438, 444 (2000) (finding a general ruling by the trial court insufficient to preserve the issue for appellate review absent the filing of a motion pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC). Accordingly, the issues presented by Appellants in their brief are unpreserved and cannot be considered by this Court.

**II. THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE DEPARTMENT’S ISSUANCE OF THE PERMITS TO THE BROILER FACILITIES PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. REGS. 61-43 PART 200 AND THE ALC’S AFFIRMANCE.**

**A. Standard Of Review.**

An appellate court's review of an ALC decision is governed by the Administrative Procedures Act ("APA"). Specifically, the APA provides as follows:

(B) The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2017). The review of a Final Order and Decision issued by the Administrative Law Court is "limited to determining whether the ALC's findings were supported by substantial evidence or were controlled by an error of law." Engaging and Guarding Laurens County's Environment v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Env'tl. Control, et al., 407 S.C. 334, 341-42, 755 S.E.2d 444, 448 (2014) (citing Hill v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Env'tl. Control, 389 S.C. 1, 9, 698 S.E.2d 612, 616 (2010)). "The Court may not substitute its judgment for the ALC's judgment as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. In determining whether the ALC's decision was supported by substantial evidence, this court need only find that, upon looking at the entire record on appeal, there is evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion that the ALC

reached.” Engaging and Guarding Laurens County’s Environment, 407 S.C. at 341-42, 755 S.E.2d at 448; Hill, 389 S.C. at 9-10, 698 S.E.2d at 617 (internal citation omitted). Moreover, “[t]he mere possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent a finding from being supported by substantial evidence.” Hill, 389 S.C. at 10, 698 S.E.2d at 617 (citations omitted).

**B. The Substantial Evidence In the Record Supports the Department’s Issuance Of the Permit To Construct And Operate the Broiler Facilities.**

**1. The Department has no duty to consider the cumulative impacts of poultry facilities.**

Appellants’ claim that the Department should have reviewed the cumulative impacts of poultry facilities on the Little River and the surrounding communities is without merit. See App. Br. at 29-30. The regulations applicable to the permitting of poultry facilities makes no mention of cumulative impacts or creates a duty requiring the Department to consider cumulative impacts to the environment from the addition of new facilities to an area with existing facilities. See S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-43 Part 200.70. In contrast, the animal permitting regulations applicable to swine expressly mention cumulative impacts and place a duty upon the Department to consider cumulative impacts as part of the review process. Specifically, the provision provides as follows:

The Department also shall act on all permits so as to prevent degradation of water quality due to the cumulative and secondary effect of permit decisions. Cumulative and secondary effects are impacts attributable to the collective effects of a number of swine facilities in a defined area and include the effects of additional projects similar to the requested permit proposed on sites in the vicinity.

S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-43 Part 100.70(G) (emphasis added).

The fact that the regulations limited the duty of the Department to consider cumulative impacts as part of the Department's permitting review solely to swine facilities is a clear indication that the Legislature does not believe that the consideration of such impacts is necessary with other animal facilities. See Horry Tel. Corp. Inc. v. City of Georgetown, 408 S.C. 348, 353, 259 S.E.2d 122, 134 (2014) (“What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will.”). Without this duty, the Department has no authority to conduct a cumulative review in this case. See Mungo v. Smith, 289 S.C. 560, 564, 347 S.E.2d 514, 517 (Ct. App. 1986) (quoting 1 A. Jur. (2d), Administrative Law Section 70, Page 88(G)) (“[A]dministrative agencies are creatures of statute and their power is dependent upon statute, so that they must find within the statute warrant for the exercise of any authority which they claim.”). Therefore, Appellants' claim is without merit.

**2. The Facilities are sited more than double the applicable minimum distances from Waters of the State.**

Appellants' claim that the Department should have considered additional siting distances is belied by the facts in the record. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-43 Part 200.70(F), the Department is authorized to increase minimum setbacks on a case by case basis after considering the enumerated and other factors that the Department determines are relevant. Here, Mr. Chaplin testified that he reviewed the distances for accuracy and had any inaccurate distances corrected. (R. pp. 1154-1156, lines 15-25; 166, lines 1-2). The actual distances were at least double the minimum distance and in some instances many times the required distance. For example, the closest facility to the Little River is the HC Broiler facility, which is located 834 feet away. (R. p. 1338). Although, Appellants' expert expressed concern that the distance was inadequate given the amount of grading necessary

to construct the facility and steepness of the slope from the edge of the facility to the Little River, he acknowledged that stormwater management is part of a separate permit process that would include a review of detailed engineering drawings and calculations on grading and stormwater runoff management for the Broiler Facilities, and would address pre- and post-construction stormwater runoff. (R. pp. 936, lines 1-5; 937-938, lines 20-10). Additionally, “in an effort to address [Appellants’] concerns regarding the potential impacts of the Projects on the waters of the State” the ALC approved the Department’s issuance of the State Animal Facility permits to the Broiler Facilities conditioned on the facilities being moved even further away from the Little River than had been approved by the Department. (R. pp. 32-33).

Moreover, the Department review noted that the CNMPs included a stormwater management plan, which would be in addition to the plans that the Department would require as part of the separate stormwater permit review. (R. pp. 1173, lines 2-25; 1295, 1428, and 1532). Further, Dr. Hargett acknowledged that the stormwater permitting program has rigorous requirements addressing a wide range of stormwater issues applicable to construction and post-construction activities. (R. pp. 937-938, lines 2-17).

Accordingly, the substantial evidence establishes that the Department did consider whether additional setbacks were needed and supports the determination that none were needed given that the distances were already greater than the minimums and the fact that stormwater runoff would be reviewed and addressed by the Department during its review of the separate stormwater permit.

**3. The Broiler Facilities will not negatively impact the TMDL for the Little River.**

Appellants' claim that additional distance between the Broiler Facilities and the Little River is warranted because of the 2004 TMDL for the Little River is also without merit. See Appellants' Br. at 30-31. Part of the Department's review of poultry facility applications is the requirement that the Department may increase the minimum setbacks on a case by case basis considering the enumerated and other factors that the Department may consider necessary. S.C. Code 61-43 Part 200.70(F). As stated above, the Department permit reviewer conducted a review of the Broiler Facilities' applications to determine whether additional distances were needed, and concluded that additional distances were not required. In conducting this review, Mr. Chaplin reviewed the 2004 watershed report upon which the TMDL is based and noted that it identified the Laurens County wastewater treatment facility as the greatest contributor of fecal coliform bacteria to the watershed. (R. p. 1183, lines 13-17). Mr. Chaplin also discussed the TMDL with the Department's watershed manager for the Little River and based on this conversation and his research he determined that no additional setback distances were required. (R. p. 1166, lines 8-23).

Further, it should be noted that the 2004 TMDL only identified poultry facilities as a potential or possible cause, and not a likely or definitive cause of the fecal coliform bacteria impairing the Little River. See (R. pp. 927-929, lines 14-15). There is no empirical evidence that such facilities caused or contributed to the fecal coliform bacteria impairment in the Little River. Indeed, since the issuance of the 2004 TMDL, the Department's data has led it to conclude that animal facilities permitted under the S.C. Code Ann. Regs. Part 200 are no longer a potential source of fecal coliform bacteria since they operate without discharging waste or wastewater into waters of the State. (R. pp. 1183-1184, lines 16-23).

Moreover, since the final placement of the Broiler Facilities by the ALC places them even further from the Little River than the distances set forth in the CNMP, there is not potential for them to discharge into the Little River. Indeed, even Appellants' expert, Dr. Hargett, conceded that such a move would relieve many of his concerns about the Broiler Facilities. See (R. pp 350-351, lines 22-1). Accordingly, this claim is without merit.

**C. Appellants Presented No Credible Evidence That the Broiler Facilities Have A Reasonable Potential To Discharge Into Waters Of the State.**

Appellants claim that the Department should not have issued State Animal Facility permits to the Broiler Facilities since facilities currently in operation in the Mountville area, including one owned by David Coggins, have been observed discharging into surface waters of the State. In proceedings before the ALC, the complaining party bears the burden of proof. Leventis v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Env't. Control, 340 S.C. 118, 132, 530 S.E. 2d 643, 651 (Ct. App. 2000). "The [C]ourt may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the [ALC] as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact." Barton v. S. C. Dep't of Prob. Parole & Pardon Servs., 404 S.C. 395, 401, 745 S.E.2d 110, 113 (2013) (alterations in original) (citations omitted). Appellants introduced photographs taken by Kathy Lowman that showed puddles of standing water beside what she testified she thought were manure piles. (R. p 350-351, lines 22-1). ("I can say they were manure piles because I believe it is."). Appellants also introduced satellite photographs collected by Mr. Blackmon that he claims showed uncovered manure piles at several poultry facilities including one currently owned by David Coggins. (R. pp. 506-507, lines 19-7).

As the trier of fact, the ALC considered this evidence and found it unpersuasive and at best anecdotal as it "suggests, at most, that certain growers are operating out of compliance with DHEC's regulations, which is an enforcement issue and not relevant to

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